IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-01487-COA

BARBARA ANN PRICE

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VERSUS

OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC.

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANTS

ON APPEAL FROM ORDER THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LOWNDES COUNTY

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

LAWRENCE J. HAKIM
MS BAR NO.
CHARLIE BAGLAN & ASSOCIATES
ATTORNEYS AT LAW
100 PUBLIC SQUARE
POST OFFICE BOX 1289
BATESVILLE, MISSISSIPPI 38606
TELEPHONE NUMBER: (662) 563-9400

FAX NUMBER: (662)563-4633 E-MAIL: info@baglanlaw.com

Attorney for the Appellant/Cross-Appellee

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-01487-COA

BARBARA ANN PRICE

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VERSUS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION COMMITTED ERROR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN FINDING THAT APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE, BARBARA ANN PRICE ONLY HAS TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT LOSS OF USE OF HER RIGHT UPPER EXTREMITY FOR WAGE EARNING PURPOSES AND TWENTY PERCENT LOSS OF USE OF HER LEFT UPPER EXTREMITY FOR WAGE EARNING PURPOSES
- II. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION COMMITTED ERROR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN FINDING THAT THE APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT IS ENTITLED TO A CREDIT FOR BOTH SHORT TERM AND LONG TERM DISABILITY BENEFITS IT PAID TO THE APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE
- III. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION COMMITTED ERROR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT WHEN IT FAILED TO PROPERLY WEIGH THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE AND TAKE INTO ACCOUNT SAME IN VIEW OF THE APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE'S TESTIMONY

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSTION BELOW

On October 19, 2001, Appellant/Cross-Appellee, Barbara Ann Price, ("Barbara") filed her Petition to Controvert, alleging February 8, 2000, bi-lateral carpal tunnel injuries to her upper extremities.

On November 15, 2001, Appellee/Cross-Appellant, (hereinafter "Employer"), answered, admitting the injury.

A Full Hearing on the Merits was held July 27, 2004, before the Honorable Cindy P. Wilson, Administrative Judge.

On or about March 24, 2005, the opinion of the Administrative Judge was entered. Said Order found that Barbara had sustained a twenty-five percent (25%) loss of wage earning capacity as a result of her work-related bi-lateral carpal tunnel syndrome. Said Order further found that the Employer was entitled to a credit for short and long term disability benefits and paid Barbara, and that Barbara was not entitled to penalties or interest.

On April 8, 2005, Barbara filed Claimant's Petition for Review of Opinion of the Administrative Judge. On April 11, 2005, the Employer filed its, "Motion for Clarification and Reconsideration of the Order."

On April 20, 2005, the Employer filed its Cross-Appeal and Renewal of Motion of Clarification/Reconsideration.¹

On February 27, 2006, the Full Commission heard oral argument on the Appeal and Cross-Appeal.

Rule 10 of the Procedural Rules of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission requires that cross-appeals be filed within 10 days after the petition for review is filed, but that a cross-appellant must not have less than 20 days from the date of decision/award to file its cross-appeal.

On August 16, 2006, the Full Commission Order was entered. Said Order confirmed in part and amended in part the March 24, 2005, Opinion of the Administrative Judge as follows:

- 1. The Full Commission found that Barbara had sustained a twenty-five percent loss of use of her right upper extremity for wage earning purposes and a twenty percent loss of use of her left upper extremity for wage earning purposes;
- 2. The Full Commission further found that the Employer would be allowed a credit for short term and long term disability benefits paid to Barbara from 2000-2003.
- 3. The Full Commission finally found that Barbara would still be entitled to mandatory penalties and interest on any compensation due that has not been timely paid.

On August 21, 2006, Barbara filed her Notice of Appeal and on August 28, 2006 the Employer filed its Notice of Cross-Appeal.

On August 22, 2007, the Circuit Court of Lowndes County affirmed the August 16, 2006, Full Commission Decision. On August 28, 2007, Barbara filed her Notice of Appeal and on or about September 14, 2007, the Employer filed its Cross-Appeal.

B. SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

Appellant/Cross-Appellant, Barbara Ann Price ("Barbara") was born August 10, 1959. (R. 12) She is a widow. (Id.) Barbara received a high school diploma, and attended a junior college without graduating from same, or receiving any type of degree, diploma or certificate. (R. 12-13) She has never held a clerical or secretarial position. (R. 13) Apart from a two year period at Pizza Hut, Barbara's primary work experience has been as a factory laborer. (R. 13-14) In these positions she had to use her hands extensively and repetitively. (R. 14)

Barbara began working for the Employer herein on or about May 4, 1987. (R. 16) The Employer is a factory, which manufactures wall covering products, as well as seat covers. (Id.)

Barbara's first position with the Employer was as a "wide print helper". (R. 17) Barbara's next position was in "wind up". (R. 18) Barbara's next position was "final inspection". (R. 19) Finally, Barbara was placed in the "strike off" position. (R. 20) In this position Barbara would have to inspect the print rollers for damages, match colors with the order, and was required to lift and carry rollers that weighed more than twenty pounds. (R. 21) It was while in this position that Barbara first began noticing problems with her upper extremities that included numbness, coldness, and the inability to hold on to things. (R. 23) Barbara's symptoms also including tingling and swelling in her hands. (R. 24) Because of these symptoms she presented to the emergency room on February, 2000, and in turn was referred, by the emergency room physician, to Orthopedic Surgeon, Scott Jones, M.D. (R. 24) Barbara was eventually referred to Tupelo Neurologist Donna Harrington, M.D. and to Neurosurgeon, Dominic Cannella, M.D., and in turn Dr. Cannella referred Barbara to Dr. Kurt Thorderson. (R. 25)²

Dr. Thorderson's deposition was taken March 1, 2004. (Claimant's Exhibit 1) Dr. Thorderson first saw Barbara May 25, 2000, upon referral from Dr. Donna Harrington/Dr. Dominic Cannella. (Exh. 1 at 6)

Based upon the history that Barbara provided, Dr. Thorderson's physical examination, and available electro-diagnostic tests, Dr. Thorderson diagnosed Barbara with "carpal tunnel syndrome, worse on the right than on the left and right wrist ulnar neuropathy." (Id. at 8)³

³ Barbara is right hand dominant.

² Because of the severity and duration of Barbara's work-injuries, she also saw other physicians, including orthopedic surgeon Felix Savoie, M.D. and pain specialist Jeff Summers, M.D. However, since Dr. Thorderson was the <u>surgeon</u> and treated Claimant the longest and was relied upon by both the Administrative Judge and Commission, only his records will be addressed in the instant brief.

Dr. Thorderson performed a right carpal tunnel release and a right ulnar nerve neurolysis at the wrist June 9, 2000. (Id. at 9)

Dr. Thorderson attempted to return Barbara back to work on September 11, 2000. He originally intended for Barbara to start working four hours per day for two weeks and then begin regular duty starting September 25, 2000. (Id. at 10)

Barbara returned to him approximately two weeks later because she was having problems with bi-lateral upper extremity pain on the job and was not able to perform her work. (Id. at 9)

Dr. Thorderson opined that Barbara reached maximum medical improvement for her work injuries on March 15, 2001. (Id. at 11). Dr. Thorderson assigned Barbara a ten percent (10%) impairment rating to both the right and left upper extremities due to the carpal tunnel syndrome and an additional seven percent (7%) to the right upper extremity due to the ulnar nerve injury. (Id. at 12)

Dr. Thorderson opined that the left and right upper extremity problems that he treated Barbara for were due to her work injury. (Id. at 11)

Dr. Thorderson also placed permanent work restrictions of no lifting more than twenty pounds and no highly repetitive use of her hands. Dr. Thorderson defined highly repetitive as something Barbara would have to do over and over again, all day long. (Id. at 20)

Barbara described problems that she was having on her attempt to return to work:

- A. We had to turn the print roller in order to clean it with the acetone. That's the ink cleaner that cleaned up the ink off the print roller, which she couldn't what you couldn't let happen was let the ink dry in the cells of the print roller because that would damage your print roll. That could cause problems. So we had to clean the print roller before once we finished it, we had to clean it back up to get all the ink off of it."
- Q. You were gesturing. Could you describe what you were doing with your hands a moment ago?

- A. I am turning the print roll to clean it.
- Q. And you are doing that with both hands?
- A. One hand turns and this hand has a rag with a chemical on it where we are cleaning it.
- Q. So you are cleaning with the right hand and you are turning with the left hand; is that correct?
- A. Correct.

(R. 32-33)

- Q. Alright. How heavy are the rollers? Do you know?
- A. The rollers are heavy because they are steel.
- Q. Do you have to turn them manually or is there a crank or a motor that turns them for you? By manual, I mean with your hand.
- A. Our machine, we hand to turn with our hand.

Because of Dr. Thorderson's final restrictions, the Employer informed her that they had no job she could do within those restrictions and encouraged her to apply for long term disability. (R. 42)

Barbara put on an extensive, but largely unsuccessful job search. (R. 49-61)

The Employer/Carrier's vocational expert, Sam Cox, met with Barbara. (R. 53) Mr. Cox provided Barbara with a list of potential job openings Barbara applied for, but she was not offered any jobs. (Id.) None of the jobs that Mr. Cox listed and Barbara applied for, would have paid remotely close to what she was earning with the Employer herein.⁴

At the time of her hearing, Barbara was working part-time, helping make sandwiches for her brother's barbeque business. (R. 62) Barbara was just trying to help her brother out and at the time of her hearing and was not being paid for same. (R. 63)

⁴ The parties stipulated at hearing that Barbara's weekly wage at the time of her injuries was \$921.87.

Barbara's current symptoms include numbness and coldness in her hands and she drops objects. (R. 61) Barbara requires the help of her eighteen year old son, who lives at home to do the housework. (R. 64)

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Based upon the totality of the lay and medical evidence, Barbara Ann Price has sustained occupational loss of use of her bi-lateral upper extremities, as a result of her work injury, far in excess of the 25% and 20% the Commission awarded her. Alternately, under the same set of facts and prevailing case law in this state, Barbara Ann Price has sustained permanent and total loss of wage earning capacity as a result of her bi-lateral work injuries.

In the <u>absence</u> of evidence that short term disability benefits Barbara received were intended as compensation the Employer is not entitled to a credit for payment of same.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court must reverse a decision of the Commission if, a.) said decision is not based on substantial evidence, b.) is arbitrary or capricious, c.) is based on an erroneous application of the law, d.) was beyond the power of the Commission to make, or e.) if it violates a statutory or constitutional right of the Appellant. Smith v. Jackson Construction Co., 607 So. 2d 119, 1124 (Miss. 1992); Piney Woods Country Life School v. Young, 2005-WC-01839-COA (Remanded in part, August 8, 2006); URCCC 5.03.

A decision is said to be based on substantial evidence if it is not clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. <u>Piney Woods Country Life School</u> at ¶ 5.

Even though the Commission is the ultimate fact finder, the appellate court will reverse when the findings of the Commission are based on a mere scintilla of evidence that goes against the overwhelming weight of evidence. <u>DiGrazia v. Parkplace Entertainment</u>, 914 So. 2d 1232 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

The substantial evidence rule is sufficiently flexible to permit an appellate court to examine the record as a whole and where such record reveals that the Order of the Commission is based on a mere scintilla of evidence and is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, the court will not hesitate to reverse. Smith v. Commercial Trucking Co., Inc. and USF&G, 742 So. 2d 1082, 1085 (Miss. 1999).

An appellate court has the power to broaden the Commission's authority to meet the beneficent purpose of the Workers' Compensation Act. 742 So. 2d at 1087.

If the Workers' Compensation Commission commits prejudicial error, the appellate court does not need to defer to Commission decisions on issues of fact and witness credibility. <u>Barber Seafood, Inc. v. Smith</u>, 911 So. 2d 454 (Miss. 2005).

Where the Commission merely affirms the Administrative Law Judge's decision, the appellate court must examine the findings of fact made by the Administrative Judge as those of the Commission. McDowell v. Smith, 856 So. 2d 581 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

An appellate court is charged with determining whether there has been an error of law made by the Workers' Compensation Commission and judicial review of errors of law is *de novo*. Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 881 So. 2d 204 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

A finding of the Workers' Compensation Commission is clearly erroneous when although there is slight evidence to support it, the reviewing Court on the entire evidence is left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Commission in it's

findings of fact and in it's application of the Worker's Compensation Act and where only a scintilla of evidence supports the Commission decision the Appellate Court must reverse.

Mississippi Dept. of Transp. v. Moye, 850 So. 2d 114 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

Finally, an Appellate Court has a duty to review the facts contained in the record of a Worker's Compensation proceeding, and to determine whether those facts substantiate the Order of the Commission; Appellate review of the facts will determine whether the Commission was manifestly in error in its interpretation of those facts. Flake v. Randall Reed Trucking Co., 458 So. 2d 223 (Miss. 1984).

B. APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE, BARBARA ANN PRICE HAS SUSTAINED LOSS OF USE OF HER LEFT AND RIGHT UPPER EXTREMITIES FOR WAGE EARNING PURPOSES IN EXCESS OF WHAT THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSTION COMMISSION FOUND

Based upon the totality of the lay and medical evidence and vocational testimony, it is abundantly clear that Barbara has sustained, at the very least, loss of use of her bi-lateral upper extremities <u>far</u> in excess of that found by the Commission. However, a strong case can be made that Barbara has also sustained permanent and total disability as a result of her disabling injuries, as well.

The most relevant and probative medical records, opinions and testimony are those of Dr.

Thorderson, who operated on Barbara and treated her longer than any other doctor of record.

The Mississippi Worker's Compensation Act is "liberally construed to carry out its beneficent remedial purpose. . ." Spann v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 700 So. 2d 308 (Miss. 1997); Stuarts, Inc. v. Brown, 543 So. 2d 649, 652 (Miss. 1989).

Moreover, if any doubt exists regarding the sufficiency of medical evidence, the benefit of the doubt goes to the claimant. <u>Mueller Copper Tube Co.</u>, Inc. v. Upton, No. 2004-WC-

01493-COA, Petition for Writ of Certiorari, denied June 6, 2006; <u>Siemens Energy & Automation</u>, Inc. v. Pickens, 732 So. 2d 276, 286 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999).

A workers' compensation claimant is <u>only</u> required to prove his/her case with a preponderance of the evidence. <u>Cooper Tire & Rubber Co. v. Harris</u>, 837 So. 2d 789 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The totality of the lay, medical and expert evidence and testimony proves that Barbara has sustained a *heightened* industrial/occupational loss of use of her bi-lateral upper extremities for wage earning purposes that is tantamount to total loss of use of at least the right upper extremity, or alternatively, (and more persuasively) Barbara is permanently and totally disabled as a result of her work injuries.

There is no question that given her ongoing symptomatology and the restrictions placed on her by Dr. Thorderson, Barbara is unable to return to any of her past relevant work.

The evidence is further clear and *undisputed* that following Barbara's release by Dr. Thorderson, the employer herein determined that it could <u>not</u> accommodate her restrictions and instead recommended that Barbara apply for long-term disability.

Finally, the evidence of record is further undisputed that Barbara engaged in a diligent and bonafide job search, but was <u>unable</u> to find work.⁵

The law in Mississippi is clear, that with regard to scheduled member injuries, an injured worker must be awarded the greater of functionally disability or industrial disability. Meridian Prof. Baseball Club v. Jensen, 828 So. 2d. 740, 745 (Miss. 2002). The Full Commission only found 25% loss of use to the right upper extremity, and 20% to the left upper extremity essentially and merely "doubling" each impairment rating. However,

⁵ Despite the Employer's objections to testimony of Barbara's job search, said testimony nevertheless is contained in the record and was never struck by the Commission. (R. 49-61)

"... mere estimates of the medical or functional loss may have little value when compared with the lay testimony by the Claimant that he suffers pain when attempting use of the member and that he has tried to work and is unable to perform the usual duties of his customary employment, and this is especially true when such testimony is corroborated by persons who have observed the Claimant's attempts to work or who have refused to employ their Claimant because of his apparent infliction."

In any case medical estimates, even when related to industrial loss of use are not conclusive if disputed by Claimant's own positive evaluation of disability. In fact, anything less than the most positive medical testimony as to Claimant's ability to work may be insufficient as a basis for an award of less than total loss of use and medical estimates have been considered on review as insufficient in view that Claimant suffers pain and has tried and is unable to work, and has been unable because of his injury to obtain work that he could perform.

<u>Dunn</u>, Mississippi Workmen's Compensation §86 (3d Ed.) (emphasis added) Such a finding was clearly erroneous. Apparently, the Commission was "swayed" by the bought-testimony of Sam Cox that Barbara, despite the severity of her injuries and extent of her work restrictions was still "employable".

The Commission unfortunately and contrary to the credible evidence was skeptical of Barbara's job search.

As the Administrative Judge noted correctly, Ms. Price made questionable, or marginally efforts to return to gainful employment after being released by her treating physician. Ms. Price claims to have applied for work with Holiday Inn Express, Comfort Suites, Brewskis, Best Western, Homes and Transportation, and Pizza Hut, yet, there is only her word to support these claims. No applications or other documentation is available to substantiate these job search efforts.

Full Commission Order at 2. Based upon recent pronouncements of law from this Court, the sincerity of a Claimant's job search has little or no relevance in the analysis and determination of whether a Claimant has sustained *total* loss of use of the injured scheduled member, when the anatomical impairment rating is *less* than 100%. In fact, in a recent Court of Appeals Decision, the Claimant's failure to look for work, did not bar a finding that the Claimant

had sustained an occupational loss of use of a scheduled member far exceeding the anatomical rating, and in another recent case, an insufficient job search did not bar a finding of total loss of use to the scheduled member. <u>Lifestyle Furnishings v. Tollison</u>, No. 2006-WC-01993-COA (March 25, 2008); <u>Neill v. Waterway</u>, <u>Inc./Team America</u>, No. 2007-WC-00346-COA (March 25, 2008).

In <u>Lifestyle Furnishings</u>, Claimant, an assembly line upholsterer, sustained a left shoulder injury resulting in a 50% impairment rating to her left upper extremity. <u>Id</u>. at ¶¶3,4 Claimant's treating orthopedic surgeon opined: "Even though she does have a full range of motion, this essentially is not useful [sic] as she is unable to sustain any motor activity repetitively throughout her range of motion on a regular basis." <u>Id</u>.

A pain specialist opined that secondary to medication side effects the Claimant was restricted from work that required driving, operating machinery, and that Ms. Tollison would have difficulty doing work requiring concentration, such as accounting; however, the Claimant could drive to and from her job. <u>Id.</u> at ¶5

A FCE indicated that Ms. Tollison was capable of performing at the medium level of work. Id. at ¶6, FN. 1

The Claimant was a high school graduate and had one year of college in a pre-nursing school. <u>Id</u>. at ¶8 Claimant's primary employment was assembly line work, although she also worked for three years in customer service in a retail store. <u>Id</u>.

Based upon, a.) vocational testimony that the Claimant remained employable, b.) questions raised about the sincerity of Claimant's job search, and c.) the fact that Claimant had made an attempt to return back to work with Lifestyle Furnishings *prior* to being placed at maximum medical improvement, (with no attempts to return back to Lifestyle Furnishings *after*

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