IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BARBARA A. PRICE

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VS.

CASE NO. 2007-WC-01487-COA

OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC.

APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

A SELF-INSURED

BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT OMNOVA SOLUTIONS, INC.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of Lowndes County, Mississippi

(Oral Argument Not Requested)

**Stephen J. Carmody, Esq.
Christopher R. Fontan, Esq.
BRUNINI, GRANTHAM, GROWER & HEWES, PLLC
248 East Capitol Street
Suite 1400
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
Telephone: (601) 948-3101
Facsimile: (601) 960-6902**

ATTORNEYS FOR THE APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Price has not sustained permanent disability in excess of her functional impairment ratings in this case. When applying the legal factors for determining a loss of wage-earning capacity, which are used to determine if a scheduled-member claimant has sustained an injury that justifies an award in excess of her physician-assessed impairment ratings, it is clear that Price's permanent disability award should be limited to a 17% loss of use to her right upper extremity and a 10% loss of use to her left upper extremity.

At the very least, Price's permanent disability benefits should not exceed the Commission's award in this case. In his Order, Judge Howard affirmed the Commission's award to Price of a 25% permanent partial impairment rating to her right upper extremity and a 20% permanent partial impairment rating to her left upper extremity. In so ruling, Judge Howard held that the Commission was presented with substantial evidence, and applied a sound legal standard in reaching this finding. Accordingly, Price's request for an increase in the extent of her award of permanent partial disability benefits is meritless.

⁵ Price has not challenged the opinions of Mr. Cox. (Vol. 2 R. 90).

Additionally, the Commission was correct in allowing Omnova a credit for voluntary payments Price received via the short-term and long-term disability programs which Omnova fully funded for its employees. Finally, Omnova should not be assessed either penalties and/or interest on any award until it is final and it is definitely established that Omnova owes her disability benefits.

IV. ARGUMENT

Price has alleged a permanent disability to her right and left arm. Accordingly, the crux of this appeal focuses on the extent of benefits Price is entitled to as a result of any “loss” to both of these upper extremities. Additionally, this appeal addresses credit Omnova received for disability benefits paid to Claimant, as well as the propriety of the imposition of penalties and interest on any award Omnova is ultimately required to pay.

A. Standard of Review

In accordance with Mississippi jurisprudence, appellate courts are charged with reviewing all questions of law and fact decided by the Commission, and, as such, “[i]f the Commission’s findings of fact and order are supported by substantial evidence, all appellate courts are bound thereby.” Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Company, 523 So. 2d 314, 317 (Miss. 1988) (emphasis added). Substantial evidence has been defined as “such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion” and affords “a substantial basis of fact from which the fact in issue can be reasonably inferred.” Central Electric Power Association v. Hicks, 110 So.2d 351, 357 (Miss. 1959). Thus, appellate courts should reverse the Commission’s final order only if it finds the order to be clearly erroneous and not supported by substantial evidence. Fought, 523 So. 2d at 317. However, “[a] finding is clearly erroneous when, although there is some slight evidence to support it, the reviewing court on the entire evidence is left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the

Commission in its findings of fact and in its application of the Act.” Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc., 853 So. 2d 776, 780 (Miss. 2003).

B. Price’s Award Should Be Limited to the Value of the Impairment to Her Left and Right Upper Extremities.

Price did not sustain an injury justifying permanent disability benefits in excess of the medical impairment rating assessed by Price’s treating physician. An arm, or upper extremity, is a “scheduled member” within the Mississippi Worker’s Compensation statutes. See MISS. CODE ANN. §71-3-17(c)(1). A scheduled member injury may result in two types of disability—permanent partial disability (“PPD”) or permanent total disability (“PTD”).⁶

Generally, injuries to a scheduled member are compensated through PPD benefits. A claimant is limited to 200 weeks of benefits for either the loss, or loss of use, of an upper extremity.⁷ MISS. CODE ANN. §§71-3-17(c)(1). Within this 200 week limit, courts use two different types of “loss” to determine the exact level of benefits a claimant is due. Generally, the “functional loss” to a scheduled member serves as the basis for the level of PPD benefits a claimant will receive. Meridian Professional Baseball Club v. Jensen, 828 So. 2d 740, 745 (Miss. 2002). “Functional loss” refers to a claimant’s assessed physical/medical impairment. Id.

In limited situations where the assessed functional loss is less than total, a claimant may establish an “occupational loss” in excess of the functional loss. Piggly Wiggly v. Houston, 464 So. 2d 510 (Miss. 1985). An “occupational loss” refers to the effect an injury has on a claimant’s “ability to perform the duties of [her] employment.” Jensen, 828 So. 2d at 745. In scheduled member cases, the extent of occupational loss is determined by evaluating the

⁶ PPD benefits are for injuries that are “partial in character but permanent in length.” MISS. CODE ANN. §71-3-17(c). By contrast, PTD benefits are for injuries that render the employee unable to earn any wages in a competitive labor market. See JOHN R. BRADLEY & LINDA A. THOMPSON, MISSISSIPPI WORKER’S COMPENSATION, §5:3 (2006) (emphasis added).

⁷ In this case, this would be a 200 week limit for each upper extremity, or 400 weeks.

claimant's post-injury loss of wage earning capacity as it effects the duties of her usual employment. *Id.* at 747. In these cases, the scope of "usual employment" is broader than the job held at the time of the injury.⁸ Weatherspoon, 853 So. 2d at 779. Only if a claimant is able to establish an occupational loss in excess of the assessed functional loss is he or she is entitled to the value of this higher assessment. Walker Manufacturing Co. v. Cantrell, 577 So. 2d 1243 (Miss. 1991) (holding modified on other grounds).

Whether a claimant has sustained a loss of wage-earning capacity, and therefore has suffered an "occupational loss," is determined by evaluating the evidence **as a whole**. In addition to the medical evidence, the list of factors to be considered in this evaluation include the claimant's education level, amount of training, ability to work, job prospects, the continuance of pain, and any other related circumstances. See, e.g., Smith v. Rizzo Farms, Inc., 870 So. 2d 1231, 1236 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Here, Price's treating physician assessed a functional impairment of 17%⁹ to her right upper extremity and 10% to her left upper extremity. In its Final Order, the Commission increased her functional rating, holding that Price sustained an occupational loss of 25% to her right upper extremity and 20% loss to her left upper extremity. (Vol. 2 R. 90). However, when applying the factors utilized by the courts in determining loss of wage earning capacity to the evidence in this case, the Commission clearly erred in awarding Price disability benefits in excess of her functional impairment rating.

Based on the evidence as a whole, Price's award in this case should be limited to the value of her functional impairment ratings. Price's ratings were determined by competent

⁸ See note 10, infra.

⁹ Specifically, Dr. Thorderson assessed Claimant with a 10% medical impairment rating to the right upper extremity for her carpal tunnel syndrome and a 7% medical impairment rating to the right upper extremity for a work-related ulnar nerve problem. Dr. Thorderson provided no clarification as to whether the 7% impairment rating was in addition to, or in combination with, the 10% rating assessed for her right carpal tunnel condition. However, the Commission combined both awards and held that Claimant had a 17% functional impairment rating to her right upper extremity. (Vol. 2 R. 89).

medical evidence, as it was established that Dr. Thorderson, Price's treating physician, assessed her impairment ratings based upon American Medical Association Guidelines. (Ex. 1 at 11-12).

Moreover, based on the applicable factors outlined above, Price failed to establish a claim for a loss of wage-earning capacity at the hearing of this case. First, the courts are to examine a claimant's education and training. Rizzo, 870 So. 2d at 1236. Price is college educated, which places her in an above-average educational level for her labor market. (Tr. 10-71; 100). Price also testified about her varied training and work experience in multiple industries. (Tr. 10-71). According to Sam Cox, these attributes, combined with her educational background, made Price highly employable even after her work-related injury. (Tr. 100).

Courts also examine a claimant's job prospects in determining if she has sustained a loss of wage earning capacity beyond assessed impairment ratings. See Rizzo, 870 So. 2d at 1236. Price clearly had job prospects and **could** have found gainful employment. In fact, her cousin offered to find her work in the food service industry—an area in which she possessed previously experience, but instead of accepting gainful employment, Price chose to help her brother in his restaurant business by making sandwiches for no pay. (Tr. 59, 61). Mississippi courts have held that these types of alternate, post-injury job prospects are relevant in loss of wage earning capacity determinations. See Sellers v. Tindall Concrete Products, Inc., 878 So. 2d 1096, 1101 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004) (court noted former concrete worker's varied experience, training and work "would allow him to obtain employment [in the computer field] within his physical limitations").

A claimant must also show that she has made a reasonable effort to find employment in the same or other employment in order to prove a loss of wage earning capacity. See Cantrell, 577 So. 2d at 1249 ("On the evidence, the Commission may have found Cantrell experienced no permanent partial occupational impairment, in which event his compensation becomes a

function of his five percent medical impairment and the statutory directives for scheduled member injuries. Under these circumstances, we must reverse the judgment of the Circuit Court and direct that the Commission's order be fully reinstated.”)

At the hearing, Price testified about her failure to make a good faith effort to obtain employment after reaching MMI. (Tr. 10-71). Though Price allegedly applied for work with a few employers, no applications or other documentation were submitted as evidence to substantiate her claims. (Tr. 69; Vol. 2 R. 67). Furthermore, Price admitted that she did not seek alternate gainful employment between October 2000 and June 2002, and only applied for employment with three or four employers thereafter. (Tr. 69-70). Both Judge Wilson and the Commission chastised Price for her lack of reasonable effort in seeking gainful employment. (Vol. 2 R. 73; 89-90). Mississippi courts have upheld the denial of benefits for loss of wage earning capacity where the claimant demonstrated no real effort to secure post-injury employment. See Boyd v. Mississippi Workers’ Compensation Commission Self-Insurer Guaranty Association, 919 So. 2d 163, 169 (Miss. 2005); Weatherspoon, 853 So. 2d at 777 (court reinstated the Commission’s decision to reduce award to value of assessed impairment rating, based in large part on evidence of claimant’s less than diligent effort in pursuing other work).

Price possessed the post-injury education, training and work experience to make her an attractive prospect in her labor market. However, Price declined an offer of employment in an industry in which she had experience and neglected to put forth a good-faith effort to find employment. Based on the medical evidence, her lack of diligence in returning to work, and the additional factors utilized by the courts, Price has failed to establish an occupational loss in excess of her assessed medical disability. Accordingly, Price’s wage earning capacity loss

should be reversed and this Court should render a judgment limiting her award to a 17% loss of the right upper extremity and a 10% loss of the left upper extremity.

C. **Price is Not Entitled to Disability Benefits in Excess of the Benefits Awarded By the Commission.**

At the very least, based on the totality of the evidence, Price's disability benefits should not exceed the value awarded by the Commission, because Price did not sustain an injury justifying permanent disability benefits in excess of the benefits actually awarded by the Commission.

1) **Price is not entitled to an increase in her permanent partial disability award.**

In her appeal, Price claims that she sustained an even higher occupational loss than assessed by the Commission. A claimant's occupational loss is determined by evaluating the evidence **as a whole**. The claimant's education, training, ability to work, job prospects, continuance of pain, and other related circumstances are all factors to consider in determining the extent of a claimant's occupational loss. Rizzo, 870 So. 2d at 1236.

In reaching its assessments, the Commission had the opportunity to consider a variety of evidence which, at the very least, supports the extent of its award. The evidence in this case unquestionably confirmed that Price was college educated and that she worked and received training in multiple industries. The medical evidence demonstrated that Price reached has MMI with modest work restrictions. Unrefuted expert testimony also established beyond a doubt that Price was employable **after** her injury and could approach her pre-injury wage level. Moreover, the evidence in this case also demonstrated Price's lack of reasonable effort to obtain suitable employment—a fact that was criticized by the Commission and Judge Wilson. The Commission opined that, based upon Price's "age, education, work history, her injury and modest restrictions,

her high pre-injury average weekly wage, and her efforts to find other employment,” she was entitled to only limited permanent disability benefits. (Vol. 2 R. 90).

In her brief, Price argues that “[t]he totality of the lay, medical and expert evidence and testimony proves that [Price] has sustained a heightened industrial/occupational loss of use of her bi-lateral upper extremities” See Brief of Appellant at 9. In essence, Price is asking this Court to re-weigh the evidence and substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Commission. However, any re-weighing of evidence in this case will be an error. See Raytheon Aerospace Support Servs. v. Miller, 861 So. 2d 330, 335 (Miss. 2003) (citing Natchez Equip. Co. v. Gibbs, 623 So. 2d 270, 274 (Miss. 1993)).

The Commission’s assessment of Price’s permanent disability must be affirmed. The Commission possessed a wealth of evidence upon which to support its factual findings and applied the proper legal standard in reaching its decision. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the Final Order. Fought, 523 So. 2d at 317.

2) Price did not sustain a total occupational loss of her upper extremities.

In a scheduled member case, a claimant may be entitled to full benefits for a total occupational loss of the scheduled member, such as an upper extremity, **if** the proof supports such an award. There are generally two ways a claimant can attempt to establish a total occupational loss of a scheduled member—one under the traditional “evidence as a whole” analysis outlined above and the other involving a presumption of law.

Price has clearly failed to establish a total occupational loss of her upper extremities based on the “evidence as a whole” analysis. The Commission has determined that Price’s scheduled member injuries did not warrant an award of benefits at or anywhere approaching a total occupational loss. (Vol. 2 R. 90). The Court should not overrule this finding.

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